In The Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. 90,018

FILED

SUD'J. WHITE

MAR 11 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clark

LENNAR FLORIDA PARTNERS I. L.P. and LENNAR FLORIDA LAND V Q.A., LTD.,

Petitioners,

V.

REWJB GAS INVESTMENTS, FS CONVENIENCE STORES, INC., REWJB GAS INVESTMENTS, and TONI GAS AND FOOD STORES INC.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

KUBIN BAUM LEVIN CONSTANT

FRIEDMAN & BILZIN

2500 First Union Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33 13 1-2336

-and-

RUSSO & TALISMAN, P.A.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners here seek review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal holding that an asserted conflict between two clauses of a contract created an ambiguity, thus permitting parol evidence, even though one of those clauses said unambiguously that it applied "notwithstanding" the other. In thus nullifying the contract's "notwithstanding" language, the Third District created express and direct conflict with decisions of two other districts enforcing identical "notwithstanding" language. In the process, the district court likewise has nullified the "notwithstanding" language in thousands of Florida contracts (the language is so common that we have discovered 700 reported Florida decisions in which it was employed by parties, courts, and the legislature to denote predominance, and the present Florida statutes alone include 400 "notwithstanding" clauses) inviting countless hours of parol litigation which the parties explicitly intended to avoid.

The express and direct conflict generated by the district court's decision provides a basis for exercise of this Court's jurisdiction. And, we respectfully submit, it is a conflict that should be resolved because so many legal instruments will be affected if the efficacy of "notwithstanding" clauses is left in limbo.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners here seek review of a decision issued by the Florida Third District Court of Appeals on grounds of express and direct conflict.' **Accordingly**, the facts are recited as they appear on the face of the decision,

A. The legal dispute and trial court proceedings thereon

This case arose from a dispute over the legal effect of "notwithstanding any conflicting or inconsistent provisions" language in an amendment to 22 commercial leases. (A. 2). The amendment had been negotiated, and agreed upon, by the principals and lawyers of the commercial entities involved. (A. 1, 2, 10). The "notwithstanding" language in question is contained in a single sentence, and it appears, specifically, in the opening clause of the sentence:

4. Notwithstanding any conflicting or inconsistent provisions of the Leases or this Agreement, including specifically paragraph 3 hereof, the term of each of the Leases and all renewal terms shall automatically terminate at the date that is eighteen months after the date of this Amendment.

(A. 2). Paragraph 3 had amended the terms as to the length of the various leases such that they were to have certain initial terms with optional renewal periods for a potential total duration of 27 years.

(A. 2).

Differences arose amongst the parties, and a declaratory judgment suit was filed by the lessees, Respondents herein. (A. 2). The issue in the litigation was whether the paragraph 4

^{&#}x27;The Third District's decision has been included in the appendix hereto, and all references to the appendix appear as (A. ____). Where pertinent, reference is also made to the dissent written by the Honorable Judge James Jorgenson. All emphasis in this brief is supplied unless otherwise stated.

"notwithstanding any conflicting or inconsistent provisions, including specifically paragraph 3" language about the term of the leases unambiguously provided that it would govern over any inconsistent provisions, including paragraph 3. (A. 1-10).

Cross-motions for summary judgment filed by the parties seeking a judicial determination as to the legal effect of the "notwithstanding" language in the amendment were denied by the trial judge, who decided that a jury should determine the parties' intent as to the term of the leases on the basis of parol evidence. (A. 2, 4). The jury's findings ran counter to the H-month lease termination date set by paragraph 4 of the amendment, and Petitioners appealed contending that the trial judge should have entered summary judgment confirming the l&month lease termination date based on the unambiguous language of the amendment. (A. 2).

B. The Third District's majority opinion

The Third District majority affirmed, holding that the "notwithstanding any conflicting or inconsistent provisions . . . including specifically paragraph 3" language in paragraph 4 of the amendment did not — despite explicitly saying so — operate to override inconsistent provisions, including paragraph 3. (A. 1-6). Rather, the majority concluded, it created an "irreconcilable conflict" (A. 2) and a "paradigmatic 'ambiguity' " (A. 4), which only parol evidence could resolve. (A. 1-6).

In reaching its conclusion as to the effect of the "notwithstanding" clause, the majority relied upon a decision from an intermediate appellate Georgia court, but acknowledged — with a

²Derose v. Shiah, 421 S.E.2d 718 (Ga. Ct. App. 1992).

"contra" introductory signal³ — contrary authority on the issue from the Third District itself.⁴ (A. 3).

C. Judge Jorgenson's dissent

Believing that the admission of parol evidence as to the parties' intentions was error, Judge Jorgenson dissented from the majority opinion. (A. 7-10). His dissenting opinion pointed out that the "irreconcilable conflict" described in the majority opinion was explicitly resolved in the amendment itself: "[A]ny conflict [between paragraphs 3 and 4] is resolved through the concise wording of paragraph four." (A. 7). Judge Jorgenson also pointed out that these were commercially sophisticated parties with extensive experience in real estate transactions, represented by counsel, such that their selection of specific contractual language could only be deemed to have served their purposes as known to them at the time:

All of the parties involved in this transaction were knowledgeable and sophisticated when it came to drafting real estate leases. Intense negotiations between corporations and partnerships were involved; all parties were represented by counsel. This was not an adhesion contract signed by naive players under duress. Both paragraphs were there for purposes that served all parties at the time. The wording of

Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 488 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Bende v. McLaughlin, 448 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). Prior editions of The Bluebook: A Uniform System of Citations ("Bluebook") (16th ed. 1996 — which controls citation references in Florida in all legal documents, including Court opinions (See Fla.R.App.P. 9.800(n); In Re: Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 609 So. 2d 516, 518 (Fla. 1992)) — said that contra was to be used when "the cited authority directly states the contrary of the proposition" in the just cited case. See, e.g., The Bluebook: A Uniform System of Citations (15th ed. 1991), p. 23. The 16th edition has apparently included the "contra" concept under "but see". See The Bluebook: A Uniform System of Citations (16th ed. 1996), p. 23 and Introduction at p. 3.

⁴Quiring v. Plackard, 412 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

paragraph four is articulate, concise, and unambiguous as to what is intended. Paragraph four clearly and expressly incorporates paragraph three, and we should honor the intent of the parties and their freedom to contract.

(A. 10). Finally, Judge Jorgenson's dissent — taking issue with the majority's reliance on the cited Georgia case — identified inter-district conflict between the majority opinion and KRC Enterprises, Inc. v. Soderquist, 553 So. 2d 760 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) and Grier v. M.H.C. Realty Corp., 274 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), as well as the intra-district conflict with Quiring v. Plackard, 412 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). (A. 7-10).

D. Timely invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction

Upon issuance of the Third District's decision, Petitioners timely filed a motion for rehearing or certification. (A. 11-24). The request for certification was based on the inter-district conflict and on the public importance of the issue as to whether these common "notwithstanding anything to the contrary" clauses do — or do not — unambiguously override contrary provisions. (A. 11-24). Petitioners also timely filed a motion for rehearing en *banc* based on the intra-district conflict and on the public importance of the issue. (A. 25-42). These motions were denied by the Third District by order dated January 29, 1997 (A. 43), and on February 26, 1997 Petitioners timely filed their notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction on grounds of express and direct conflict. (A. 44-45).

ARGUMENT

A. This Court has a basis for exercising jurisdiction due to inter-district conflict

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V §3 (b) (3), FLA. CONST. on the grounds that the Third District's decision is in direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal.

The conflict decisions are from the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal: KRC Enterprises, Inc. v. Soderquist, 553 So. 2d 760,761 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Grier v. M.H.C. Realty Corporation, 274 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

The Third District majority held in this case that a "notwithstanding any conflicting or inconsistent provisions" clause is not a clear directive as to which of conflicting provisions will control. On the contrary, they ruled that the conflict between provisions created an ambiguity making parol evidence a necessity. The Third District majority opinion thereby created conflict with the above cited Second and Fourth District decisions which held that substantively identical "notwithstanding" language is a clear and unambiguous designation as to which of conflicting provisions is to govern.

The KRC Enterprises opinion provides a graphic demonstration of the conflict which the Third District decision has now created. In KRC Enterprises, a promissory note executed contemporaneously with a mortgage had an automatic acceleration clause providing that upon default the unpaid principal and accrued interest would "forthwith become due and payable notwithstanding their tender." 553 So. 2d at 761. The mortgage, however, had an inconsistent provision which indicated that acceleration was *not* automatic, but rather could occur, alternatively, at the option of the mortgagee:

In the event that any of the sums of money herein referred to shall not be promptly and fully paid on or before the due date . . . the aggregate sum mentioned in said promissory note shall become due and payable forthwith or thereafter at the option of the Mortgagee as fully and completely as if the said aggregate sum of said promissory note was originally stipulated to be paid on such day, anything *in* said promissory note or *herein* to the contrary notwithstanding.

553 So. 2d at 761 (court's emphasis). The issue in KRC *Enterprises* was whether the acceleration occurred automatically on the default date (April 15, 1983) as provided in the promissory note, or whether it occurred at a later date because the mortgagee had not exercised its option to accelerate. The Second District noted the general rule that two documents executed simultaneously are to be read and construed together, and then ruled on the legal effect of the "notwithstanding" language:

Here, the note contained an automatic acceleration clause, but the mortgage contained an acceleration clause and *specifically* provided that "anything *in* said promissory note or herein *to* the contrary notwithstanding." Thus, the *mortgage*, providing *for* acceleration at the mortgagee's *option*, prevails over the language in the note.

553 So. 2d at 761.

It is obvious that the provisions in the KRC Enterprises documents were mutually incompatible — or, "mutually repugnant," to use the phrase referenced by the Third District majority in the instant case — and that a mortgage indebtedness could not both (a) accelerate automatically upon default, and (b) accelerate only at the option of the mortgagee at the same time. The 'mutual repugnancy' was, however (quite properly, we believe) deemed irrelevant by the Second District because the "notwithstanding" language unambiguously directed which of the inconsistent clauses was to govern over the other.

The KRC Enterprises factual circumstances are identical in practical effect to those presented here. A lease term may not be both 'twenty-seven years' and 'eighteen months' in length at the same time. However, where "notwithstanding any conflicting or inconsistent" language has been included, the Second District held, clear directions have been provided as to which of two conflicting provisions is to govern. The Second District did not either (a) engage in a discussion of the fact that enforcement of the unambiguous "notwithstanding" clause meant that another clause

became superfluous and a nullity, or (b) resort to rules of contract construction about trying to give effect to all provisions in a contract.

The Fourth District's decision in *Grier*, upon which the Second District relied, is the same. The *Grier* court said:

There does not appear to be any genuine issue of fact with regard to the acceleration rights of the plaintiff. When these two instruments are construed together, as they should be, [cites omitted], it seems clear the provision of the mortgage controls the provision of the note relative to acceleration since the mortgage specifically provides 'anything in said note or herein to the contrary notwithstanding.'

274 So. 2d at 22.

Although not a basis for exercise of this Court's conflict jurisdiction, the Third District's decision here also directly conflicts with a prior Third District decision, *Quiring*, *supra*, which also relied on *Grier* in ruling that use of parol evidence to explain or vary the conflicting terms of a mortgage was *prohibited* because a "notwithstanding" clause acts as a clear directive in resolving conflicts between provisions. 412 So. 2d at 417. (A. 7-10). The Third District has declined to resolve this intra-district conflict. Therefore, the existence of the *Quiring* decision, which is in accord with the Second District's KRC Enterprises decision and the Fourth District's *Grier* decision, at a minimum exacerbates the disharmony and confusion created by the instant case.

B. Because the potential negative impact of the conflict is so substantial, exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction is warranted

Petitioners respectfully submit that review should be granted because this case presents an important issue which requires resolution in order to provide certainty for drafters of legal instruments and to forestall unnecessary litigation. "Notwithstanding any other/conflicting/contrary provisions" clauses are routinely used in the drafting of contracts and other legal documents.

Legislators and regulators also rely on such clauses in writing statutes and regulations. As an example, such "notwithstanding" clauses are used 400 times in the current Florida Statutes.⁵ There are, additionally, over 700 Florida cases in which these "notwithstanding" clauses have appeared in various types of legal writings.⁶ A review of these cases makes it clear that Florida courts, including this Court, have routinely treated "notwithstanding" clauses in contracts and statutes as unambiguously denoting the provision introduced by such clauses as controlling.⁷

Given the widespread use of "notwithstanding" clauses, the conflict created by the Third District's decision should be resolved. Under the prior — and uniform — Florida decisions, drafters of legal instruments were able to utilize "notwithstanding anything to the contrary" language to designate an override clause that would -because of its clear and unambiguous nature — operate automatically, with no possibility that parol evidence squabbles would be permitted to vary or nullify the contractual designation as to primacy. The Third District's contrary decision has now cast doubt

⁵A list of the statutory provisions in which "notwithstanding" clauses appear is included in the Appendix hereto. (A. 46-49). The list was generated by Lexis searches. Search of LEXIS, Florida Library, FLCASE File (March 7, 1997) (searches for: (1) notwithstanding /10 contrary; (2) notwithstanding /10 conflict!; and (3) notwithstanding /10 inconsistent).

⁶The list of cases was also generated by Lexis searches. Search of LEXIS, Florida Library, FLCODE File (March 7, 1997) (searches for: (1) notwithstanding /10 contrary; (2) notwithstanding /10 conflict!; and (3) notwithstanding /10 inconsistent). The cases — a sampling of which is provided in note 7 below — arose in a variety of contexts and the "notwithstanding" language thus appears in contracts, statutes, and court opinions. The cases simply illustrate the widespread use of "notwithstanding" language to signal a controlling provision or concept.

⁷See, e.g., Florida Power & Light Co. v. Beard, 626 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 1993); Weiman v. McHaffie, 470 So. 2d 682 (Fla. 1985); Benson v. First Trust & Savings Bank, 142 So. 887 (Fla. 1932); Kaufman v. Mutual of Omaha Insurance Co., 681 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); Isignia Homes, Inc. v. Hinden, 675 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Zolonz v. Zolonz, 6.59 So. 2d 4.51 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Goodman v. Goodman, 290 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973); National Union Fire Insurance Co. v. Westinghouse Electric Supply Co., 206 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968).

on the automatic effectiveness of "notwithstanding" language. The bench, bar, and public in this state need the certainty of an answer to the question one way or the other, and now only this Court can provide it due to the existing inter-district conflict,

The conflict is not only significant for prospective legal documents, but also affects all existing legal documents containing "notwithstanding" clauses, banking instruments, statutes, etc. All such legal writings are now vulnerable to 'ambiguity' attacks based on the present decisional conflict. The conflict will unquestionably spawn countless after-the-fact efforts to avoid the consequences of previously clear provisions.

In sum, the conflict in Florida law which now exists as a result of the Third District's majority decision in this case creates a serious dilemma for drafters of legal instruments and is absolutely certain to foster an increase in litigation with commensurate additional burdens of cost and delay for the citizens and courts of this state. Because the potential impact of the conflict is so substantial, we respectfully submit that review should be granted and the conflict resolved.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Petitioners respectfully submit that this Court should exercise discretionary jurisdiction over this case,