# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

od<sup>5</sup> FILED SHD J. WHITE APR 1 5 1997

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

CASE NO. 90,018

Chief Exputy Clerk

₽y

LENNAR FLORIDA PARTNERS I, L.P., and LENNAR FLORIDA LAND V Q.A., LTD.,

Petitioners,

V.

REWJB GAS INVESTMENTS, a Florida general partnership; F.S. CONVENIENCE STORES, INC., a Florida corporation, as general partner of REWJB Gas Investments; and TONI GAS AND FOOD STORES, INC., a Florida corporation, as general partner of REWJB Gas Investments,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

<b>RESPONDENTS'</b>	BRIEF	ON JURISDICTION

## I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In a simple, two-page document amending 22 commercial leases (the "Amendment"), two paragraphs were simultaneously added to the leases, one establishing a long term for the leases, the other establishing a short term. Those paragraphs provided:

- 3. The term of the Leases is amended so that each of the Leases shall have an initial seven (7) year term (beginning on the date of this Amendment), subject to four (4) options exercisable by the Assignees by notice to Lessor to extend said term for up to 5 years each, so that if all said options are fully exercised, the initial and all renewal terms will aggregate to 27 years from the date of this Amendment.
- 4. Notwithstanding any conflicting or inconsistent provisions of the Leases or this Agreement, including specifically paragraph 3 hereof, the term of each of the Leases, and all renewal terms shall automatically terminate at the date that is eighteen months after the date of this Amendment.

Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal ("Opinion") at  $2.^{1/}$  The litigation which followed dealt with the obvious question of why the parties would add two completely contradictory and inconsistent provisions to the same document at the same time. The Third District held that the word "notwithstanding" in the second of these paragraphs did not answer that question and that, as a result, the trial court properly allowed the jury to consider parol evidence.

Petitioners seek review of that decision based on an asserted conflict with decisions of the Second and Fourth Districts. Petitioners claim those decisions created a **per se** rule--that the word "notwithstanding" **"operate[s]** automatically" to resolve any and all contractual ambiguities. Petitioners' brief at 9. Petitioners contend that the Third District's failure to recognize and apply this pe<u>r se r</u>ule in this case creates conflict.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1/</sup> In their jurisdictional brief, Petitioners fail to quote paragraph 3 and quote only paragraph 4, However, as the Third District recognized, resolution of this case required consideration of both paragraphs 3 and 4.

Petitioners are simply wrong. The decisions on which they rely do not create a **per se** rule. They do not hold that the word "notwithstanding" resolves all conflicts in all contracts in which it appears. Instead, they merely hold that a particular mortgage clause containing this word controls over a separate note provision in the particular circumstances involved in those cases. But, in this case, the Third District considered a different contract and different facts. Because the Third District reached a different result in light of those different facts, there is no conflict.

To turn the Third District's decision into more than it is--the resolution of a particular factual dispute based on unique facts--Petitioners suggest that the decision casts doubt on hundreds of contracts and statutes that use the word "notwithstanding". However, by asking this Court to adopt a **per se** rule, Petitioners seek to have this Court rule that all of those contracts and statutes, no matter what the language or factual context, are unambiguous as a matter of law simply because they use the word "notwithstanding". Obviously, this Court cannot so rule without considering the particular language of those contracts and statutes and the nature of the dispute involved. The Third District did consider the particular language and the nature of the dispute and, as importantly, so did both the Second and Fourth Districts in the cases on which Petitioners rely for conflict. As a result, there is no conflict,

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1994, Respondents REWJB Gas Investments, F.S. Convenience Stores, Inc. and Toni Gas & Food Stores, Inc. (collectively "Farm Stores") commenced a declaratory judgment action against Petitioners Lennar Florida Partners, I, L.P. and Lennar Florida Land V Q.A., Ltd. (collectively, "Lennar") and defendants Land O'Sun Realty, Ltd., Alan S. Fogg, Jr., Steven M. Fogg, Suzanne Fogg Rentz, C'Store Realty, Ltd., C'Store Management Corporation, Richard D. Rentz and F.S. Disposition, Inc. (collectively the "Foggs"). Farm Stores sought a declaration that the term of 22 Farm Stores leases was 7 years, plus

four **5-year** options, for a total of 27 years, pursuant to paragraph 3 of the Amendment. Lennar and the Foggs countered that the term was only 18 months, pursuant to paragraph 4 of the Amendment.<sup>2/</sup>

Both Lennar and the Foggs moved for summary judgment and contended that paragraphs 3 and 4 were unambiguous, that parol evidence was not required to make sense of them and that the 18 month term provided for in paragraph 4 controlled, Farm Stores contended that these paragraphs were ambiguous and that **parol** evidence was required to understand the two paragraphs. The trial court found that the two paragraphs were ambiguous and, as a result, denied Lennar's and the Foggs' motions for summary judgment and subsequent motions for directed verdict, The court allowed the jury to consider parol evidence to explain the purpose and intent of the two paragraphs. After consideration of that evidence, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Farm Stores' interpretation of the Amendment.

In their appeal, the Foggs and Lennar argued that the trial court improperly allowed the jury to consider parol evidence. The Third District rejected that argument. It held that Lennar's and the Foggs' construction of the Amendment would render the language in paragraph 3 "completely superfluous, contrary to the rule of construction and of common sense that every provision is deemed to serve some useful purpose, " Opinion at page 3.

The dissenting opinion reasoned that this case was governed by the Third District's prior decision in <u>Ouiring v. Plackard</u>, 412 So.2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). The dissent also cited the Second District's decision in <u>KRC Enterprises. Inc. v. Soderquist</u>, 553 So.2d 760, 761 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) and the Fourth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2/</sup> Petitioners' Appendix to their jurisdictional brief includes the Motions for Rehearing or Certification and Rehearing En **Banc** which they filed with the Third District. Those documents do not establish conflict jurisdiction since conflict must appear on the face of the Third District's decision. <u>Reaves v. State.</u> 485 **So.2d** 829 (Fla. 1986). Petitioners' need to rely on those documents shows that there no such conflict exists, If those documents are considered by this Court, this Court should also consider Respondents' opposition to those motions, which is contained in an Appendix to this brief. Pages 4-8 of that opposition set forth a complete description of the facts underlying this litigation.

District's decision in <u>Grier v. M.H.C.</u> Realtv Corp., 274 So.2d 21 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973) as additional authority. Dissent at 8-9 and n. 7.<sup>3/</sup>

Lennar and the Foggs based their Motions for Rehearing, Rehearing En **Banc** and Certification on the dissent's citation to **Quiring**, **Grier** and **KRC**; they also argued that this case raised a question of great public importance. **See** Petitioners' Appendix at **11-39**. In opposition, Farm Stores amply distinguished this case from **Quiring**, **Grier** and **KRC**. **See** Respondent's Appendix at **11-15**. It also detailed numerous opinions holding that use of the word "notwithstanding" does not conclusively resolve every conflict in any legal instrument or statute in which it appears. **See** Respondent's Appendix at **15-19**.

The Third District denied **Lennar's** and the Foggs' motions and refused to certify this case for review by this Court, either on the basis of conflict or because it involved a question of great public importance. Significantly, Judge Jorgenson, who authored the dissent, joined in the Third District's determination that there was no conflict or issue of great public importance. <u>See</u> Petitioner's Appendix at A.43. Although Lennar has sought review in this Court, the Foggs--the actual party to the leases with Farm Stores--abandoned any further appeal.

## **III. ARGUMENT**

# A. The Third District's Decision Does Not Expressly and Directly **Conflict** with Decisions of the Second and Fourth Districts

It is well-settled that this Court's "jurisdiction to review decisions of the courts of appeal because of alleged conflict is invoked by (1) the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this Court or another district, or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involved substantially the same facts as a prior case."" <u>Mancini v. State</u>, 312 So.2d 732,733 (Fla. 1975). <u>See also Smith v. Jack Eckerd Corp.</u>, 577 So.2d 1321, 1322 n. 1 (conflict

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3/</sup> Petitioners' brief relies heavily on the dissent. But the dissent may not be used to establish conflict. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986); <u>Jenkins v. State</u> 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). Significantly, Petitioners did not rely on, or even cite, <u>Grier</u> or <u>KRC</u> in their appellate briefs. Petitioners' claim of conflict rings hollow in light of their previous failure to rely on <u>Grier</u> and <u>KRC</u>.

jurisdiction exists "when a district court applies a rule to produce a decision conflicting with that reached in another decision involving substantially the same controlling facts").

Here, the Third District did not announce any rule which conflicts with a rule announced by the Second and Fourth Districts and it did not reach a result different from that reached by those courts under the same controlling facts. Instead, the Third District, as well as the Second and Fourth Districts, reached its conclusion based on the particular--and different--facts which they faced. As a result, there is no conflict.

**KRC Enterprises** and **Grier** addressed the interplay between acceleration provisions in two different documents, a promissory note and a mortgage. **KRC Enterprises** is the only decision of the two which provides any facts. There, the acceleration clause in the note was automatic. The acceleration clause in the mortgage provided that acceleration was at the mortgagee's option (i.e., it could elect to accelerate or not) and further provided that it applied "notwithstanding" anything in the note to the contrary. The court concluded that the mortgage's acceleration clause applied when the mortgagee sued to foreclose the mortgage. The acceleration clause in the note would apply if suit was brought solely on the **note**.<sup>4/</sup>

KRC Enterprises and Grier simply did not present the kind of ambiguity which exists here." Loan documents typically include both a note and mortgage. On default, the lender may sue either on the note or to foreclose the mortgage. Therefore, the loan documents in KRC Enterprises and Grier made sense in providing that the acceleration clause in the note would apply if suit was brought on the note, but that the acceleration clause of the mortgage would apply, "notwithstanding" the note provision, if suit was brought to foreclose the mortgage. Under those circumstances, both clauses had meaning and effect. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4/</sup> <u>Grier</u> also explicitly recognized this point: "Unquestionably, plaintiff can sue on the note without foreclosing the mortgage, as they are distinct agreements." 274 So.2d at 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5/</sup> Indeed, neither <u>KRC Enterprises</u> nor <u>Grier</u> appear to have involved any claim that the documents were ambiguous and neither even mentions **parol** evidence. These cases only address which document--the note or the mortgage--controls in a particular context, Because these cases fail even to mention ambiguity or rule on admission of **parol** evidence, they do not conflict with the Third District's decision at bar.

use of the term "notwithstanding" clarified the proper application of each provision <u>under different</u> circumstances.<sup>6/</sup>

By contrast, in this case the parties inserted two provisions in the same document at the same time which on their face are completely repugnant. The use of the word "notwithstanding" does not resolve the ambiguity between paragraphs 3 and 4; the two provisions remain completely inconsistent. Unlike **KRC Enterprises** and **Grier**, application of Petitioner's **per se** rule would not harmonize the two paragraphs and give effect to each under different circumstances, but instead would render paragraph 3 a complete nullity; that is, there would be **no** circumstances in which this paragraph would have any meaning or effect. As the Third District recognized, this result would violate the principle that all provisions in a contract should be given effect if possible (as they were in **KRC Enterprises** and **Grier**).

Acceptance of appellants' claim that everything after "notwithstanding" negates everything before would unacceptably render the preceding language completely superfluous, contrary to the rule of construction and of common sense that every provision is deemed to serve some useful purpose.

Opinion at 13. Contrary to Petitioner's claim, ambiguity exists here precisely because, unlike the situation in **KRC Enterprises** and **Grier**, Petitioners' interpretation of the "notwithstanding" clause of paragraph 4 purports to completely nullify the long-term lease provision of paragraph 3, although the parties had inserted both paragraphs at the same time. As the Third District's opinion properly explains:

The internal conflict, a paradigmatic "ambiguity," which thus remains, is resolvable--and the obvious question of why people would say two directly contrary things in the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6/</sup> Petitioners also seek to rely on the Third District's decision in <u>Ouiring v. Plackard, 412 So.2d 415</u> (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). Of course, Petitioners' reliance on this decision is misplaced because this Court's jurisdiction must be based on interdistrict conflict. Moreover, the Third District found no intradistrict conflict since it denied rehearing <u>en banc</u>.

In any event, **Quiring** is noodifferent than KRC Enterprises and Erier.i n t e r p l a y between a discount clause and a clause providing for acceleration on default. Its analysis of the word "notwithstanding" in the acceleration clause gave meaning and effect to both clauses--the discount clause would apply when no default existed, but would not apply after default. Like KRC Enterprises and Grier, it did not announce a <u>per se</u> rule of contract construction, but merely construed the particular contract provisions before it,

breadth, is answerable--only by evidence beyond the words themselves that the parties intended each of the two terms to operate in particular, but different, circumstances.

Opinion at 4.<sup>7/</sup>

In sum, neither <u>KRC Enterprises</u> nor <u>Grier</u> create any <u>per se</u> rule that the word "notwithstanding" always resolves any contractual ambiguity; instead, they merely held that this word helped explain the circumstances under which either the note or the mortgage would apply. Here, the Third District reviewed fundamentally different facts and concluded that the word "notwithstanding" did not resolve the ambiguity. Because these decisions merely reached different results under different facts, there is no conflict.

## **B.** This Action Does Not Raise Any Issues of Great Public Importance.

Petitioners suggest at pp. 8-10 of their brief that this Court should exercise jurisdiction because this case involves issues of significant importance. According to Petitioners, the Third District's decision "creates a serious dilemma for drafters of legal instruments"; this Court should exercise jurisdiction to eliminate any "doubt on the automatic effectiveness of 'notwithstanding' language".

As an initial matter, Petitioners cannot establish jurisdiction by claiming that this case involves issues of great importance. This Court has held that it "does not have jurisdiction to review cases that a *party* deems to present an issue of great public importance. This Court may only review questions of great public importance that are certified by a district court of appeal. Art V, §3(b)(4), Fla.Const." Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston, 655 So.2d 91, 93, n.1 (Fla. 1995) (emphasis in original). Here, the Third District (including the dissenter) denied Lennar's request to certify this case. Petitioners cannot support their deficient conflict argument with an argument based on their own view of great public importance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7/</sup> Significantly, Petitioners offer this Court no explanation why the parties would insert paragraphs 3 and 4 in the same document at the same time. Their inability to do so speaks volumes as to the document's ambiguity. <u>See Saco Devel.</u>. Inc. v. Joseph Bucheck Const..Corp...373 So.2d 419, 421 (Fla. 3d DCA **1979)**, cited in the Third District's opinion at 3 ("It is not understandable why Saco would insist upon and accept an indemnity and hold harmless agreement . . . and at the same time execute a release . . . which would have the effect of wiping out the indemnity and hold harmless agreement. The ambiguity created by the mutual repugnance of the instruments requires consideration of such evidence, **parol** or otherwise, as the parties may present on the question of the intent of the parties.").

Moreover, as the analysis above makes plain, no Florida decision has ever announced or established a **per se** rule that the word "notwithstanding" resolves ambiguity in all contracts and statutes, no matter what the ambiguity, language or context involved. The simple fact is that no such rule exists, Numerous cases recognize and support this conclusion.

For example, in **Erdenberger**. Inc. v. Partek North America. Inc., 865 P.2d 850 (Col.Ct.App. 1993), the contract contained a clause which stated that royalties were payable "notwithstanding termination ... of this Agreement." Two years later, the parties entered into a new agreement which stated, among other things, that the first agreement "shall for all purposes terminate and become null and void." The court recognized that it was impossible to reconcile these conflicting provisions from the language itself. The court found an ambiguity existed and resolved it in favor of the first provision <u>only after the use of parol evidence</u> demonstrated the intent of the parties.

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